94969-1

FILED 8/30/2017 2:24/PM Court of Appeals Division/

No. -

State of Washington

COA No. 76279-6-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of
Islam Gamal ElDin Michael Abdel Ghani
Appellant

And

Anne Kari Brewitt
Respondent

## ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHNGTON FOR KING COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Islam Gamal El Din Michael Abdel Ghani
Appellant Pro Se
7 Sadek Selim Street, Alexandria, Egypt
Email: Islam.abdelghani@gmail.com
Phone: +201004000454

####

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Islam Gamal ElDin Michael Abdel Ghani, appellant below, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, see Appendix A.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Islam Gamal ElDin Michael Abdel Ghani, seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision entered on July 31, 2017, affirming the trial court's order of granting the respondent's motion for revision, enforcing a revised permanent domestic violence order for protection which included the minor child and terminating all contacts between the father and his son.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1- Did the court followed the legislature which expressly provide that the best interests of the child control whether restrictions may be placed on a parent's residential time with his children, and followed the statute which provides that the particular factor or condition that justifies the restrictions must be adverse to the children's interests?

- 2- Is the court obligated when terminating the parent's residential time with his children to find the nexus between the parental conduct that is found to support the termination and an actual or likely adverse impact of the conduct on the children that justifies the termination?
- 3- Absent a showing of this necessary nexus between factors said to support termination of residential provisions of a parenting plan and the children's best interests, are the court's findings of the father's conduct still relevant?
- 4- Did the court properly fail to consider the best interests of the minor child by ignoring the child's need of a father, and did the court followed the legislative purposes that visitation rights must be determined with references to the needs of the child rather than the preferences of the parent?
- 5- Did the court misread the parties' final parenting plan, and the enforcement of a permanent domestic violence protection order terminating residential provisions acted as a de facto modification of the Parenting Plan?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Islam and Anne were married on June 10, 2013 at Alexandria, Egypt. They have only one child from their marriage; A.I.G (three and half year-old son). Islam and Anne Separated on September 15, 2014 when Anne abducted A.I.G and fled to US.

Anne commenced the marital dissolution action on October 7, 2014. At the time the petition for dissolution was filed, Anne sought and obtained a temporary domestic violence order for protection. In January 5, 2015 the parties agreed to convert the protection order to a temporary restraining order in exchange for Islam's counsel's agreement to accept service on his behalf of the summons and petition in the dissolution action. The agreed temporary restraining order remained in place until the entry of the final orders in December 2015 and the restraints of the Restraining Order were moved to the Decree of Dissolution. After mediation, the Final Parenting Plan, Order of Child Support and Decree of Dissolution were entered on December 15, 2014. Anne was awarded the custodian parent with whom the child resides.

On September 20, 2016 Anne has filed a motion to enforce decree of dissolution and for a permanent order for protection and sought to terminate the Skype visitations permanently between Islam and the child. In her declaration Anne said that Islam has repeatedly violated the restraints of the final orders, he has sent her WhatsApp messages outside the bounds of organizing the skype calls, sent WhatsApp voice messages for her to play to the child, and also send the child packages through her attorney. With her declaration Anne enclosed a copy of the WhatsApp

messages, CD with a voice message recording and a copy of a gift card.

Anne claimed she has the right to obtain a permanent domestic violence order of protection to cease contact because Islam has violated the terms of the agreed restraints in the Decree of Dissolution.

On October 7, 2016 Islam has filed his reply declaration in which he showed the court by evidence that Anne was the one who started to violate and abuse the Restraining Order before the entry of the Final Orders, and other evidence of Anne abusing the terms of the Final Orders.

On October 17, 2106 Anne has filed her reply declaration in which she claimed that the sole issue before the court is whether Islam has violated the non-contact provisions of the Decree of Dissolution which then triggers the entry of a domestic violence protection order. In her reply declaration Anne admitted that she occasionally had tried to make some casual conversation with Islam all with the hope that they could get to a place where they have a civil relationship for the sake of the son. Anne also admitted she allowed Islam to send voice messages to the son but she never played these messages for him. Anne has admitted that she started the contact with Islam before the entry of the Final Orders while the Restraining Order was still in place, at that time Islam has filed a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter, Anne invited Islam to see his son for

the first time after a long time of her taking him out Egypt in return for Islam to abandon his litigation.

On October 19, 2016 the case was heard in King County Superior Court before Commissioner Bonnie Canada-Thurston and Anne was granted an order for permanent protection order against Islam, and order was entered on October 19, 2016 excluding the minor child and Final Parenting Plan remained in effect.

On October 28, 2016 Anne through her attorney has filed a Motion for Revision of Commissioner Thurston's Orders. In his motion attorney of Anne claimed that Commissioner erred in not enforcing parties' agreement, erred by finding the parties didn't agree for the child to be included in the protection order, and erred by overruling the parties' agreement based on erroneous application of legal authority, case In re Marriage of Barone, 100 Wu.App. 241, 996 P.2d 654 (2000).

On November 1, 2016 the Motion for Revision was assigned for hearing to the Honorable Judge Douglas North.

On December 16, 2016 the Motion for Revision was heard in King County Superior Court before Judge Douglas North, both parties appeared, Islam appeared by phone.

Judge Douglas North granted Anne's Motion for Revision, granted her motion to Enforce Decree of Dissolution and for order of Protection. The court has signed a revised Permanent Domestic Violence Order for Protection which included the mother and the minor Child. Judge Douglas North has terminated permanently all contacts between Islam and his son with no future provisions.

The ruling of Judge North was based on the following findings; the father has violated the no-contact provisions of the Decree of dissolution and the parenting plan, the mother has, as a matter of right, to obtain a permanent domestic violence protection order as per paragraph 3.15 of the Decree, also Court found that Enforcement of the parties' agreement and entering a permanent protection order that includes the child and the mother does not result in a "de facto modification" of the final parenting plan, and the facts and holding of Barone are very different from and not applicable to the present case.

Islam appealed and Division One affirmed, reading that the parties have agreed in the Decree of Dissolution that the mother have the right to obtain a permanent domestic violence order for protection for her and for the son if the father violates the no-contact restraints, and since the parenting plan is incorporated by reference in the Decree and it expressly

states "the father's visitation is contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions set forth in this plan.", the Court of Appeals found the parenting plan provides for such relief of terminating the residential provisions and the enforcement of the permanent order for protection is not a de facto modification of the parenting plan.

Islam Seeks review in this court.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Under the Parenting Act of 1987 (Chapter 26.09 RCW), the best interests of the child continues to be the standard by which the trial court determines whether restrictions may be placed on a parent's residential time with his children. The statute also provides that the particular factor or condition that justifies the restriction must be adverse to the children's best interests. And when a limitation is placed in a parenting plan, the trial court must find a nexus between the parental conduct that is found to support the limitation and an actual or likely adverse impact of the conduct on the children that justifies the restriction. In re Marriage of Watson, 132 Wn. App. 222, 233-34, 130 P.3d 915 (1996).

Three years ago, this court held that restrictions imposed under RCW 26.09 must be reasonably calculated to prevent relatively severe physical, mental, or emotional harm to a child. *In Re Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 644 (2014)*. Unfortunately, here In this case, the Court of Appeals' acted afoul of all these rules when affirming the trial court's ruling of terminating the residential provisions between the father and the minor child without establishing any evidence supporting that the parent's conduct was adverse to the child's best interests. In the same time the Court of Appeals did not consider the severe mental and emotional harm this termination of child-parent relation will have on the child, by ignoring the child's need of a father, the trial court failed to properly consider the best interests of the child as required.

For these reasons, Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with numerous state cases declaring the rules and standards of the statute, in the same time this case presents an issue of substantial public interests. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2) and (4).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals by misreading the parties' final parenting plan and in affirming the trial court ruling of terminating the residential provisions of the parenting plan has acted

against and defeated the statutory scheme which seeks to serve the best interests of children when specified certain steps required before modifying parenting plans and restricting or limiting the residential provisions. Here in this case, Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with several state cases which hold that a domestic violence protection order cannot operate as a de facto modification of a parenting plan, and of substantial public interests the issue of simply filing a request for protection order to get a relief of restricting the residential provisions in the parenting plan. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2) and (4).

Finally, the Court of Appeals in terminating the father's residential visits with his minor child ignored the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which protects a parent's fundamental right to "autonomy in Parenting. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

This case merits review for all the aforementioned reasons.

1- TRIAL COURT MUST FIND THE ADVERSE EFFECT TO THE CHILD BEST INTERESTS BEFORE IMPOSING PARENTING PLAN RESTRICTIONS UNDER RCW 26.09. RESTRICTIONS IMPOSED UNDER THE STATUTE MUST BE REASONABLY CALCULATED TO PREVENT RELATIVELY SEVERE PHYSICAL, MENTAL, OR EMAOTIONAL HARM TO THE CHILD

RCW 26.09.191(3) bars the trial court from "preclud[ing] or limit[ing] any provisions of the parenting plan" (i.e., restricting parental conduct) unless the evidence shows that "[a] parent's ... conduct may have an adverse effect on the child's best interests." In Re Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 650 (2014).

RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) is a catchall provision. It allows courts to "preclude or limit any provisions of the parenting plan" in light of "[s]uch other factors or conduct as the court expressly finds adverse to the best interests of the child." RCW 26.09.191(3)(g). *Id*.

Before imposing RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) restrictions, a trial court must find "'more than the normal ... hardships which predictably result from a dissolution of marriage." *Katare*, 175 Wash.2d at 36, 283 P.3d 546 (alteration in original) (quoting *Littlefield*, 133 Wash.2d at 55, 940 P.2d 1362). While the court "need not wait for actual harm to accrue before imposing restrictions," it may impose restrictions only where substantial evidence shows "'that a danger of... *damage* exists." *Id.* at 35-36, 283 P.3d 546 (emphasis added) (alteration in original) (quoting and citing *In re Marriage of Burrill*, 113 Wn.App. 863, 872, 56 P.3d 993(2002)).

RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) does require a particularized finding of a specific level of harm before restrictions may be imposed. *In Re Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 651 (2014)*.

A trial court's decision is reviewed for an abuse of discretion, which "occurs when a decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) (citing *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)). The trial court's findings of fact are treated as verities on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* (citing *Ferree v. Doric Co.*, 62 Wn.2d 561, 568, 383 P.2d 900 (1963)). "Substantial evidence" is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter asserted. *Id.* 

Here in this case the trial court did not bother to show the nexus between the father's conduct that is found to support the restriction and the adverse impact of that conduct on the minor child that justifies the termination of the residential provisions. The Court of Appeals in affirming the trial court ruling did not show any evidence of the father's conduct being adverse to the child's best interests.

No fair-minded person would judge the WhatsApp messages, voice message recordings and the packages of toys and clothes sent by the

father to his son and which were provided by the respondent as the only evidence of the father's violation of the No-Contact restraints in the Decree of Dissolution that they are of potential harm or adverse effect on the child. Islam in his reply brief has detailed the contents of the WhatsApp messages and that it did not bear any threatening language or inflicting any fear on the mother and that it was only begging for extra time to see the child, and contrary to the mother's allegations and trial court findings, Islam did not discuss the mother's attire or appearance in the these messages. Reply Br. Appellant 19-21. At the same time Islam showed the court that the voice message recordings he sent to his son through the mother were only to let the son knows how much the father loves him, misses him and wants to play with him, and the same for the packages. Id.

Here, one additional thing Islam wants to make clear to this court; in some WhatsApp messages, Islam was badly asking the mother for some mercy to let him see his son for extra time and has used religious expressions reminding her that God is watching and that God will not have mercy for her in the other life the same she does to Islam depriving him from his son. These expressions cannot be regarded by any mean as threatening or were inflicting fear on the mother, the other life and the divine punishment of God are not by any means threats

because neither Islam nor any one on earth can interfere or has an input for that and thus the claim that these messages are threatening and inflicting fear and come under RCW 26.50.010 is totally absurd and illogical.

Here in this case, with the absence of substantial evidence establishing a nexus between Islam's violations of the No-Contact restraints of the decree of dissolution and the adverse effect and harm that this caused to the child, the trial court erred in enforcing a permanent domestic violence order for protection that terminates the residential provisions of the final parenting plan and the Court of Appeals erred affirming that ruling was under RCW 26.09.191 (3)(g).

This court in Chandola has concluded that by requiring trial courts to identify specific harms to the *child* before ordering parenting plan restrictions, RCW 26.09.191(3) prevents arbitrary imposition of the court's preferences.(citing Wicklund, 84 Wash.App. at 770-71, 932 P.2d 652. (Distinguishing trial court's disapproval of homosexuality from a finding of harm sufficient to justify parenting plan restrictions (citing *In re Marriage of Cabalquinto*, 43 Wn.App. 518, 519, 718 P.2d 7 (1986))). *In Re Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 656 (2014).

Moreover, this court in Chandola has decided that RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) must be read in light of chapter 26.09 RCW's statement of policy, codified at RCW 26.09.002. And In light of this policy, as well as the nature of the specific grounds for parenting plan restrictions listed RCW 26.09.191(3)(a)-(f), this court has concluded that the legislature intended RCW 26.09.191(3) restrictions to apply only where necessary to "protect the child from physical, mental, or emotional harm," RCW 26.09.002, similar in severity to the harms posed by the "factors" specifically listed in RCW 26.09.191(3)(a)-(f). A trial court abuses its discretion if it imposes a restriction that is not reasonably calculated to prevent such a harm. Id at 652.

Here in this case the restrictions imposed by the trial court were severe, the ruling terminated the father-child relationship and the court has decided on its own the minor child does not need a father, neither the trial court nor the Court of appeals has justified this termination of residential provisions with the finding of relatively severe harm required by RCW 26.09.191(3)(g).

For all the aforementioned reasons, this court should accept the review, reverse the Court of Appeals' decision and exclude the minor child from the permanent order for protection.

2- THE PARTIES' FINAL PARENTING PLAN DOES NOT PROVIDE FOR A RELIEF TO TERMINATE RESIDENTIAL VISITS BETWEEN THE FATHER AND THE MINOR CHILD IF THE FATHER VIOLATES THE NO-CONTACT PROVISIONS

In this case it was clear that both trial court and Court of Appeals have misread the parties' Final parenting Plan.

Paragraph 3.10 of the Parenting Plan states:

"The father shall have no residential time with the child except as identified in paragraph 3.1. The father visitation is contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions set forth in this plan". CP 9.

It is very important that "contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions set forth in this plan" be construed within the context of the whole plan and not isolated in this paragraph 3.10 only. The plain and unambiguous language of paragraph 3.1 where it details the two types of residential schedules and the restrictions under each part clearly explain what meant by "contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions....." as temporary halt of visitation that will resume with the father's compliance with these restrictions. The plan was expecting violations would occur and provided for provisions for these violations; an example is the plan's authorization to the mother to terminate the single Skype call if the father becomes emotional during the call or if it happens and he discusses the mother's personal life. CP

79. Here the plan did not authorize the termination of skype visitations in total, it was very clear from the language that it meant the single call. Other provisions were placed for the mother to assign a third party of her choosing to monitor the Skype visitations. Id. Islam in his reply brief has detailed several restrictions under the two types of the residential schedule and how the plan provided for the provisions for violations of restrictions. *Reply Br. Appellant 1-2, 11-12*.

Had the plan intended by "contingent upon his compliance with these restrictions...." permanent termination of residential schedule, it would not have provided for provisions for the violations, or it would have specified the maximum number of violations by which the residential schedule will terminate. But that was not the case of parties' Parenting Plan which never discussed terminating the father's contact with the minor child nor provided for a relief terminating the residential visits.

Here in this case both the trial court and Court of Appeals erred in their reliance that the final parenting plan authorizes the termination of the father's residential visits with his minor child if he violates the no-contact restraint based on their misinterpretation of "The father visitation is contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions set

forth in this plan". The ruling of including the child in the permanent domestic violence protection order should be reversed, the parenting plan does not authorize such inclusion and the child cannot be part of that order.

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