## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/23/2017 3:09 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 94989-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

# ANNE KARI BREWITT Respondent

and

### ISLAM GAMAL EL DIN MICHAEL ABDEL GHANI Petitioner

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CALEB M. OKEN-BERG SKELLENGER BENDER, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent 1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3401 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 623-6501

# **

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

received no notice of the Egyptian divorce proceeding, nor was she given any opportunity to participate. CP 319. Mr. Abdel Ghani subsequently filed an appeal in Egypt (again with no notice to Ms. Brewitt), seeking to terminate any custody rights to Ms. Brewitt on the grounds that she was an apostate. *Id*.

Over four months after his attorney appeared in the case in King County, on March 23, 2015, Mr. Abdel Ghani filed a "CR 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss" the child custody action in King County. CP 317. Mr. Abdel Ghani argued in his motion that the court should dismiss the child custody action under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), but he included no expert affidavits or materials to support his position that Washington should enforce child custody orders issued by an Egyptian court applying Islamic/Sharia law. CP 320. In her response to Mr. Abdel Ghani's motion, Ms. Brewitt also invoked the UCCJEA to request that the court deny Mr. Abdel Ghani's motion pursuant to RCW 26.27.041(3). *Id.* In her opposition to Mr. Abdel Ghani's motion, Ms. Brewitt provided expert declarations regarding the child custody laws of Egypt in order to show that the Egyptian laws violated fundamental principles of human rights. *Id.* 

On June 9, 2015, the court issued a detailed order denying Mr. Abdel Ghani's motion to dismiss. CP 317-325. The trial court determined there

was clear and convincing evidence that Egyptian child custody laws violate fundamental principles of human rights, and that the trial court in King County would not recognize Egypt as a "state" for the purposes of applying the UCCJEA. CP 322-323. The trial court also found that Mr. Abdel Ghani had "committed frequent and repeated acts of serious domestic violence against Petitioner" and that Washington had subject matter jurisdiction over the child.<sup>3</sup> CP 318, 323-324. Mr. Abdel Ghani filed a motion for discretionary review of the trial court's order denying his motion to dismiss in the Washington Court of Appeals for Division One. On November 10, 2015, the Court denied Mr. Abdel Ghani's Motion for Discretionary Review. *See* Appendix A to Brief of Respondent filed under Court of Appeals Case No. 76279-6-I.

On September 1, 2015, Debra Hunter, M.A. (the court–appointed parenting evaluator) issued her report, which included recommendations that the child reside with Ms. Brewitt, that Ms. Brewitt have sole-decision making authority for the child, and that restrictions be placed on Mr. Abdel Ghani's contact with the child based on a history of acts of domestic violence. CP 360-376. The parties attended a mediation on November 24, 2015, with counsel, at which they agreed to final orders in their marital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Abdel Ghani admitted in his declaration filed as part of this motion that he had hit Ms. Brewitt on at least one occasion, CP 313.

dissolution action. CP 35. Specifically, the parties agreed to maintain all the existing restraints against Mr. Abdel Ghani from the temporary restraining order, but those restraints were moved into the Decree of Dissolution. CP 35, CP 30-33. The parties also specifically agreed that Ms. Brewitt had the right to a permanent Domestic Violence Protection Order for herself and the child if Mr. Abdel Ghani violated any of the restraints set forth in the Decree. CP 33. The restraints against Mr. Abdel Ghani included a prohibition on Mr. Abdel Ghani contacting Ms. Brewitt or the minor child, except as expressly set forth in the Final Parenting Plan. CP 32. The parties' Final Parenting Plan incorporated the parenting evaluator's findings that there was a basis for restrictions and limitations on the Mr. Abdel Ghani's residential time under RCW 26.09.191 based on a history of domestic violence. CP 6, 375.

Under the terms of the parties' Final Parenting Plan, Mr. Abdel Ghani was permitted to have Skype visitation with the minor child once per week for 15 minutes. CP 7. The Final Parenting Plan specifically stated that the parties may have contact during the Skype visitation "only to the extent necessary to initiate and facilitate the Skype visitation. If either party needs to reschedule the Skype visitation, the parties may email or use Viber to communicate with each other for this limited purpose only." CP 7. The Parenting Plan also specifically states:

The respondent shall be prohibited from discussing the mother or her personal life or any legal matters with the child. If the father violates these provisions or becomes emotional during the call, the mother may terminate the Skype call.

CP 7.

At Paragraph 3.10 of the Final Parenting Plan ("Restrictions"), the parties agreed that "the father's visitation is contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions set forth in this plan." CP 9.

After entry of the final orders on December 4, 2015, Mr. Abdel Ghani almost immediately began violating the contact restraints in the Decree and Parenting Plan. CP 74. Mr. Abdel Ghani repeatedly contacted Ms. Brewitt outside the scope of what was permissible, including inquiries about her personal life, if Ms. Brewitt was dating, and the religious upbringing of the child. Mr. Abdel Ghani also made contact with Ms. Brewitt through third parties. CP 74-76, 126-128. Mr. Abdel Ghani sent Ms. Brewitt numerous and frequent voice messages on the mobile device application "WhatsApp," (sometimes on a near daily basis), and he pressured her to play the messages for the child. Mr. Abdel Ghani also sent Ms. Brewitt frequent text messages through "WhatsApp" that were threatening, accusatory, and contained religious overtones. CP 74. In addition, Mr. Abdel Ghani continually asked for more time during the Skype calls, and when Ms. Brewitt declined to agree to his demands and attempted to stick

with the court-ordered fifteen minutes of Skype time, Ms. Brewitt was berated verbally or in writing by Mr. Abdel Ghani for having "no heart" or being "a stone." CP 74, CP 116-121. Ms. Brewitt reported that she frequently had no choice but to disconnect the calls with Mr. Abdel Ghani. CP 74. Ms. Brewitt did not allow for the extra calls, but she reported that the continual requests and ongoing berating of Mr. Abdel Ghani were very stressful and caused her concern. *Id*.

Despite Mr. Abdel Ghani's violations of the no-contact provisions in the Decree, Ms. Brewitt did not immediately seek enforcement of the Decree. Ms. Brewitt indicates that she had hoped to try to handle the situation without involving the court, so that the parties could get to a place where they could have a civil relationship for the sake of the child. CP 126. Unfortunately, Mr. Abdel Ghani's behavior did not stop, and he continued to escalate his violations of the no-contact provisions. CP 126-127. Even when Mr. Abdel Ghani's correspondence did actually relate to the minor child, many of Mr. Abdel Ghani's messages would include commands that Ms. Brewitt take certain parenting steps that he believed were proper. CP 127. If Ms. Brewitt did not respond, Mr. Abdel Ghani would barrage her with more messages. *Id*.

Ms. Brewitt grew very fearful and concerned by Mr. Abdel Ghani's escalating anger and threats toward her and others in her life. CP 128. As

such, on September 20, 2016, Ms. Brewitt filed a Motion to Enforce Decree of Dissolution, in which she requested that the court enter the Protection Order that the parties had agreed she could obtain if Mr. Abdel Ghani violated the no-contact provisions of the Decree. CP 34-72. In his response to the motion, Mr. Abdel Ghani admitted that he had violated the no-contact provisions in the Parenting Plan and Decree, but he blamed Ms. Brewitt, requested that the court ignore his violations, and requested that the court not enforce the parties' agreement. CP 124.

On November 19, 2016, a family court commissioner found that the parties had agreed that a permanent Order of Protection would be entered for both the Petitioner and the child if the Respondent violated the nocontact provisions in the parties' Decree. CP 131-132. The Commissioner specifically found that the father had violated "the contact allowed under the Parenting Plan." *Id.* However, the Commissioner proceeded to overrule the parties' agreement and enter an Order of Protection covering the mother only. CP 133. In the Commissioner's order, the court acknowledged that by declining to include the minor child in the Protection Order, the court was overruling the parties' agreement and a lawful order of the court. CP 132. Although there was no motion to vacate the Decree before the court, the Commissioner decided *sua sponte* that "the case 'Baron' overrules the parties' agreement," and the Commissioner proceeded to vacate the

provisions of the parties' Decree requiring the minor child to be included in the Protection Order.<sup>4</sup> CP 132.

Ms. Brewitt sought revision of the Commissioner's order. CP 141-177. On December 16, 2016, King County Superior Court Judge Douglass North granted Ms. Brewitt's Motion for Revision, and entered a Protection Order that covered both the minor child and Ms. Brewitt. CP 116, 199-201. Judge North found that the agreed Final Parenting Plan and Decree of Dissolution specifically provided Ms. Brewitt the ability to seek a protective order for both her and the minor child if Mr. Abdel Ghani violated the restrictions in the plan and the no-contact provisions of the Decree. RP 20.5 Judge North noted that the holding from *Marriage of Barone* did not apply to the facts of the present case because the Parenting Plan was not being modified with the entry of a Protection Order specifically contemplated by the parties. CP 200, RP 20, lines 9-15. The court noted that Ms. Brewitt's right to obtain a Protection Order was something the parties specifically "contemplated and agreed to at the time the Parenting Plan and Decree were entered into" and that enforcement of the parties' agreement and entering a

<sup>4</sup> The Commissioner appeared to have been relying on the case *In re Marriage of Barone*, 100 Wn.App. 241, 996 P.2d 654 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "RP" refers to the 3/17/17 Verbatim Report of Proceedings from the December 16, 2016 hearing before Judge North.

Protection Order that includes the minor child and the mother "does not result in a 'de facto modification' of the Final Parenting Plan." *Id.*; CP 200.

On July 31, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's entry of the permanent order of protection for both Ms. Brewitt and the child. Slip Op. at 1. The court rejected Mr. Abdel Ghani's challenges to the trial court's ruling, finding that the terms of the Decree and Final Parenting Plan unambiguously provided for a permanent Protection Order for the mother and the child if the contact restraints were violated by Mr. Abdel Ghani, that the court was not restricted to a one-year Protection Order under chapter 26.09 RCW, and that the trial court acted in the child's best interest in enforcing the parties' agreed child custody orders.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

Mr. Abdel Ghani fails to establish any basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision, which affirmed that the trial court did not abuse its discretion with the entry of a permanent Protection Order against Mr. Abdel Ghani, based on the unambiguous terms of the parties' agreed dissolution Decree and Final Parenting Plan. RAP 13.4(b).

1. THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE FATHER'S VIOLATIONS OF CONTACT PROVISIONS ALLOWED FOR THE ENTRY OF A PROTECTION ORDER, WHICH WAS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST.

The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court that the parties' Decree of Dissolution and agreed Final Parenting Plan unambiguously provided for a permanent Protection Order for the mother and the child if Mr. Abdel Ghani violated the contact restraints. It is undisputed that Mr. Abdel Ghani violated the restraints; such violations were found by the trial court, they were not challenged by Mr. Abdel Ghani, and therefore were verities on appeal. *In re Marriage of Petrie*, 105 WnApp. 275, 19 P.3d 443 (2001). Based on these facts, the Court of Appeals properly noted that Mr. Abdel Ghani's reliance on authority relating to modification and suspension of visitation rights were unfounded. Slip Op. at 11. Under the terms of the parties' agreed Parenting Plan, Mr. Abdel Ghani already was subject to restrictions under RCW 26.09.191(1), and he had no visitation rights once he violated the contact-restraint provisions; thus, there was no modification of the Parenting Plan.

Contrary to Mr. Abdel Ghani's claims in his Petition for Review, the trial court did in fact find that enforcing the parties' agreed-upon orders and entering a permanent Protection Order was in the child's best interest. The Final Parenting Plan incorporated the parenting evaluator's report by reference, which notes that Mr. Abdel Ghani's history of acts of domestic violence and his history of "being unable to focus solely on developing a relationship with the child without questioning the mother or commenting

about her appearance and attire" was of great concern, and warranted entry of a continuing restraining order to protect the mother and the child. CP 374. The Court of Appeals noted that in granting Ms. Brewitt's request for enforcement of the Decree and a permanent Protection Order, the trial court specifically found that the very behavior the parenting evaluator had described was ongoing. Slip Op. at 15. Given that Mr. Abdel Ghani did not assign error to the trial court findings, they were verities on appeal. *Petrie*, 105 Wn.App. 275. In light of such findings, the Court of Appeals appropriately concluded that the trial court acted in the child's best interests by enforcing the agreed child custody orders.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE AGREED CUSTODY ORDERS WERE UNAMBIGOUS AND WERE NOT MISREAD BY THE TRIAL COURT.

If the language of a Decree is unambiguous, then there is no room for interpretation. *In re Marriage of Smith*, 158 Wn. App. 248, 256, 241 P.3d 449 (2010). In this case, the trial court and Court of Appeals properly found that when read together, the terms of the Decree and Final Parenting Plan unambiguously provide for a permanent Protection Order for the mother and child if Mr. Abdel Ghani violated the contact restraints set forth in those orders. Slip Op. at 11. Given that the trial court had no room for interpretation in light of the unambiguity of the parties' agreed orders, the court properly enforced the agreed orders. There is thus no basis for review.

Without citing to legal authority, Mr. Ghani asserts that the parties' Parenting Plan anticipated his violation of the various provisions, and thus, any remedy was intended to be temporary until he returned to compliance. Petition at 15. The appellate court noted, however, that the plain language of the parties' orders specifically contradicts Mr. Abdel Ghani's interpretation, given that "the agreed Final Parenting Plan expressly states, 'the father's visitation is contingent upon his compliance with the restrictions set forth in this plan." Slip Op. at 9 (emphasis in original). Additionally, the Parenting Plan was incorporated into the dissolution Decree, which stated "The Parties agree that if the father/respondent violates any terms of this order, the mother shall [have] the right to obtain a permanent domestic violence Protection Order against the father..." Slip Op. at 8. Given that the court has no room to interpret language that is unambiguous in a Decree, Mr. Abdel Ghani's alternative interpretation of the parties' custody orders cannot be considered. The Petition for Review should be denied.

#### E. MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES

In Washington, an award of attorney's fees is justified where the conduct of one of the parties causes the other "to incur unnecessary and significant attorney fees." *Burrill v. Burrill*, 113 Wn. App. 863, 873, 56 P.3d 993 (2002). Mr. Abdel Ghani, while represented by counsel, agreed to the

very terms that the trial court enforced, and were subsequently affirmed by

the Court of Appeals. There is no basis for review by this court, and Mr.

Abdel Ghani's actions constitute litigation intransigence. Mr. Abdel Ghani

should pay the reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred in responding to

his Petition for Review.

F. CONCLUSION

This case presents no appropriate basis for review under RAP

13.4(b), given that the Court of Appeals simply affirmed the agreed-upon

terms of the parties' unambiguous Decree and Parenting Plan. For the

foregoing reasons, Anne Kari Brewitt respectfully asks this Court to deny

review of Islam Gamal El Din Michael Abdel Ghani's petition and to award

her fees.